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The events giving rise to this complaint (the “Complaint”) are well-known: In the early

morning hours of October 31, 2011, MF Global, Inc. (“MFGI”), a futures commission merchant

(“FCM”), reported that it was missing approximately $900 million that should have been held in

customer accounts. That same day, MFGI became the subject of a liquidation proceeding under

the Securities Investor Protection Act, and its parent, MF Global Holdings, Ltd. (“MFGH”), and

numerous affiliates, filed for bankruptcy. The Commodity Futures Trading Commission

(“CFTC”) almost immediately launched a public campaign to identify individuals to be held

accountable. The CFTC went even further and, based on no evidence whatsoever, publicly

implied certain individuals to be both responsible for the loss and guilty of a deliberately

wrongful act.1

Foremost in the CFTC’s cross-hairs in its preemptive rush to judgment was Jon S.

Corzine, the former chief executive officer (“CEO”) of both MFGH and MFGI. After exhaustive

investigations lasting nineteen months, neither the CFTC nor anyone else has found the requisite

evidence against Mr. Corzine. There is no evidence demonstrating that Mr. Corzine knowingly

directed unlawful conduct or acted without good faith. Rather than acknowledge that reality and

move on, the CFTC has clung to its baseless presumptions and manufactured charges of

wrongdoing that are supposedly connected to Mr. Corzine. Lacking the necessary evidentiary

support, the CFTC fails to meet its threshold pleading burden, particularly as to Mr. Corzine’s

1 On November 15, 2011, days after the CFTC commenced its investigation,
Commissioner Bart Chilton told Reuters: “I think something nefarious has happened, potentially
something illegal.” Nick Brown and Alexandra Alper, “CFTC Commissioner Views MF Global
Darkly,” Reuters (Nov. 15, 2011), available at http://www.reuters.com/article/ 2011/11/15/us-
mfglobal-chilton-idUSTRE7AE14H20111115 (last visited Sept. 6, 2013). In another interview
on November 13, 2011, Mr. Chilton stated, “I hope that anybody, no matter who they are, or how
high a level they were at MF Global, is punished to the full extent. I mean, if they do the crime,
they shouldn’t just pay a fine; they should do the time.” “Bart Chilton on MF Global and Jon
Corzine,” Russia Today (Nov. 13, 2011), available at http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=-
LKVt7GvDp8 (last visited Sept. 6, 2013).
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2

mental state. The Complaint relies on irrelevant allegations calculated to sully Mr. Corzine’s

character, as well as rambling hindsight criticisms of complex management decisions, many of

which were made during times of extreme stress.

In this way, the CFTC tries to pin blame on Mr. Corzine for MFGI’s mishandling of

segregated customer funds by relying on generalizations about lack of good faith and “failure to

supervise.” In Count One, the CFTC claims that in the last week of October 2011, Mr. Corzine

either “knowingly” or in the absence of good faith “induced” MFGI to mishandle customer

funds, in violation of the Commodities Exchange Act, 7 U.S.C. ch. 1, et seq. (“CEA”), and the

rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, 17 C.F.R. §§ 1.1-190.10 (the “CFTC Rules”). In

Count Four, the CFTC claims that Mr. Corzine “failed to supervise diligently.” Neither claim

has been adequately plead, nor could they be. The Complaint is replete with references that

undermine rather than support the mental state allegations necessary for the CFTC to meet it

pleading burden.

To prevail on its claim that Mr. Corzine is liable as a control person of MFGI (Count

One), the CFTC must prove that Mr. Corzine acted in bad faith or that he knew that customer

funds were being mishandled. But the Complaint woefully fails to allege facts that would

support such findings, and indeed, no such facts exist. To prevail on the supervision claim

(Count Four), the CFTC would have to show, first, that Mr. Corzine had a specific supervisory

responsibility and, second, that he actually failed in his duty to supervise. However, the CFTC’s

factual allegations show that Mr. Corzine was not responsible for supervising the individuals

who were involved in the transfers of customer funds or the specific transactions at issue, much

less that he failed to supervise them. The CFTC cannot simply rely on Mr. Corzine’s job title as

CEO to suit its needs and make blanket allegations of firm-wide control. No CEO of an entity
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with operations around the globe and thousands of employees can be accurately described as the

“supervisor” of every employee and transaction. In sum, the Complaint does not—and indeed

could not—meet the pleading burden required to establish either claim against Mr. Corzine, and

it should be dismissed pursuant to rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure as

against Mr. Corzine.

Statement Of Facts2

The scope of the CFTC’s extensive nineteen-month long investigation into the facts

underlying this lawsuit is clear from the face of the Complaint. The CFTC reviewed a

voluminous record of documents (see Cmpl. ¶¶ 40, 56, 62(b), 63(f)-(g), 63(t), 64(w)), e-mails

(see id. ¶¶ 51, 53, 62(d), 62(i), 63(a)-(c), 63(k), 64(a), 64(g), 64(m), 66-68), and recorded

telephone conversations (see id. ¶¶ 48-50, 52, 54-55, 62(e)-(f), 63(d), 63(o), 63(q)-(r), 64(i),

64(n-o), 64(t), 64(v)), and it took depositions of witnesses (see id. ¶ 65). Yet, despite all of that

discovery, the Complaint remains a confusing amalgam of accusations and conclusory

allegations that are completely devoid of context. In short, the CFTC is simply unable to allege a

supported inference of the absence of good faith or failure to supervise by Mr. Corzine.

A. Mr. Corzine Joins MFGH And Tries To Reshape It To Help It Survive

At the time Mr. Corzine became CEO, MFGI “was still principally a commodity

brokerage firm that earned revenue primarily from interest income for servicing customers’

deposits and from commissions on customer transactions.” (Id. ¶ 32.) Mr. Corzine was hired to

transform a struggling company, and to do so he planned, very publicly, to change the company

“into a global investment bank that generated substantial revenues from proprietary trading

2 Facts “drawn from [the] Complaint are accepted as true for the purposes of the motion to
dismiss only.” Basis Yield Alpha Fund (Master) v. Goldman Sachs Grp., Inc., 798 F. Supp. 2d
533, 534 n.1 (S.D.N.Y. 2011); see also Bryant v. N.Y. State Educ. Dep’t, 692 F.3d 202, 210 (2d
Cir. 2012).
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activities.” (Id.) To increase revenues, Mr. Corzine recommended strategic investments,

including investments in the sovereign debt of certain European countries through repurchase-to-

maturity transactions (“RTMs”). (Id. ¶ 3; see also id. ¶¶ 32-36.)

The risks attendant to the RTM strategy were at all times disclosed to and approved by

the Board of directors of MFGH (the “Board”). (Id. ¶ 34, 36.) Moreover, as the CFTC

begrudgingly acknowledges, the Board (including Mr. Corzine) set “risk limits for these [RTM]

transactions” with input from the chief risk officer (“CRO”). (Id. ¶ 36.) The RTM investments

paid off in full; there is no allegation that any of the underlying bonds ever defaulted.

In light of this business strategy, management carefully searched for other sources of

liquidity. (See, e.g., id. ¶¶ 3, 33, 34.) Nevertheless, there is not a single allegation, nor could

there be, that the new strategy violated any provision of the CEA or CFTC Rules. There is no

allegation that Mr. Corzine was ever warned that the RTM investment strategy (or anything else)

would put customer funds at risk of being lost.3

B. MFGI’s Internal Controls And Systems

Although replete with conclusory assertions that Mr. Corzine was aware that MFGI’s

systems and controls were somehow inadequate (id. ¶ 38), the Complaint fails to describe those

systems and controls. Yet it is clear that they existed. (See, e.g., id. ¶¶ 39 (referring to “liquidity

forecasting” and “regulatory calculations”); 40 (referring to written “daily liquidity report”); 41

3 For this reason, among others, the Complaint’s allegation that “[Mr.] Corzine and others
decided to replace the Former CRO” (Cmpl. ¶ 35), is wholly irrelevant. Indeed, as the CFTC
knows, the Board had expressed dissatisfaction with the former CRO before Mr. Corzine arrived
at MFGH; the attempt to argue that the effort to find his replacement is somehow a relevant fact
is thus particularly egregious. Similarly, the Complaint contains two paragraphs relating to a
purported improper investment of customer segregated funds by MFGI that required changes to
MFGI’s method of financing certain securities. (See id. ¶¶ 8, 37.) None of the claims asserted
against Mr. Corzine are based upon such conduct; nor do those allegations relate in any way to
the loss of customer funds.

Case 1:11-cv-07866-VM   Document 536    Filed 09/10/13   Page 8 of 30



5

(referring to “regulatory reporting and liquidity management systems”).) And, it is clear that Mr.

Corzine took steps to improve those systems and controls: The Complaint faults Mr. Corzine,

not for failing to take any steps, but for failing “to take sufficient steps” to update MFGI’s

regulatory reporting and liquidity management systems (id. ¶ 41 (emphasis added)), claiming,

without any explanation, that the failure to do so “contributed to [MFGI’s] unlawful use of

customer segregated funds” (id. ¶ 42).

These allegations are most remarkable for what is omitted. The Complaint does not and

cannot allege that (i) MFGI’s controls and systems were disregarded or non-operational at any

time, (ii) MFGI’s controls and systems fell below industry standards, or (iii) Mr. Corzine failed

to improve MFGI’s controls and systems during his tenure. To the contrary, the documents

referenced in the Complaint show that during Mr. Corzine’s tenure, the internal systems and

controls were regularly reviewed by MFGI. At no point in time was Mr. Corzine made aware of

any failure in MFGI’s systems and controls that were designed to protect customer funds

required to be held in segregation. Indeed, prior to late October 2011, no such failure had ever

occurred, a fact the CFTC does not dispute.

C. Mr. Corzine’s Summer 2011 Inquiries Regarding Sources Of Liquidity

During the summer of 2011, Mr. Corzine sought to identify lawful sources of additional

liquidity. After a detailed investigation and analysis of relevant CFTC Rules, MFGI’s chief

financial officer (“CFO”) prepared a memorandum addressing the appropriate use of “secured”

(not segregated)4 customer funds and concluding that, while the law permitted the use of secured

4 As explained in paragraph 24 of the Complaint, the CFTC Rules do not require that funds
deposited by “foreign futures customers” be held in segregation. Funds deposited by such
customers are required to be held in separate secured (not segregated) accounts. See 17 C.F.R. §
30.7. Prior to the bankruptcy of MF Global, the CFTC Rules did not require dollar-for-dollar
segregation of secured funds. See 17 C.F.R. §§ 1.3(rr), 30.7. Accordingly, the explanation
contained in paragraph 21 of the Complaint, which indicates that all funds deposited by
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customer funds, MFGI should adopt a more conservative policy. (Id. ¶ 45.) The policy

recommended by the CFO, and adopted by MFGI, was “not [to] use the secured customer funds .

. . unless [MFGI] had on hand a sufficient balance of excess funds (i.e., proprietary funds) in

customer segregated accounts to cover its use of secured customer funds.” (Id. ¶¶ 45-46.)

Thus, MFGI adopted a policy, supported by Mr. Corzine, that was more conservative

than the relevant CFTC Rules, and recommended that MFGI maintain dollar-for-dollar

segregation of funds deposited by all customers, including those trading on foreign exchanges.

As acknowledged in the Complaint, MFGI’s internal policy went beyond what was required by

law, which permitted an FCM “to use a certain amount of secured customer funds for the FCM’s

own purposes . . . .” (Id. ¶ 24; see also id. ¶ 45.) Before the final week of October 2011, MFGI

complied with the applicable segregation rules and regulations, even when it went below the

conservative threshold established by its internal policy.

D. Mr. Corzine’s Alleged Actions From October 6 – 19, 2011

Although the alleged segregation violations, and related “control person” claims against

Mr. Corzine, pertain only to the final week of October 2011 (id. ¶ 81), the Complaint goes to

some length to describe warnings that Mr. Corzine allegedly received earlier in October about

the precarious liquidity situation of MFGH (id. ¶¶ 48-57). The allegations, if credited, would

tend to show: (i) that Mr. Corzine was reluctant to cause MFGH to draw down on its revolving

credit facility (“RCF”) and that he preferred to use (lawfully) customer secured funds “to avoid

giving the appearance the Firm needed to borrow money and therefore was in financial trouble,”

(id. ¶ 49); (ii) that he was more optimistic about MFGH’s liquidity situation than was MFGH’s

customers of an FCM are required to be held in segregation, is misleading. For a more detailed
discussion of the distinction between segregated and secured funds, see the memorandum of law
in support of the motion to dismiss that was filed by defendant Edith O’Brien.
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Treasurer (id. ¶ 50); (iii) that on October 6 and October 7, 2011, Mr. Corzine insisted on getting

accurate information about the amount of money in various accounts that could (lawfully) be

used (id. ¶¶ 51-52); (iv) that he was informed on October 17, 185 and 19, 2011, that MFGI had a

smaller cushion than was indicated by its internal policy (but not the law) (id. ¶¶ 53, 56); and

(iv) that Mr. Corzine ultimately permitted MFGH to draw $125 million from its RCF (id. ¶ 55).

The CFTC’s apparent purpose in recounting these allegations is to attempt to portray Mr.

Corzine as reckless. Conspicuously absent from the Complaint, however, is any allegation that

Mr. Corzine was ever warned that customer segregated funds were at risk, that the CEA and

CFTC Rules were in danger of being violated, or that MFGI’s procedures and controls for

protecting funds deposited by customers were deficient. The allegations regarding early October

2011 are therefore irrelevant to Mr. Corzine’s knowledge of the movement of customer funds

required to be held in segregation in the final week of October 2011, or upon any supervisory

procedures or controls.

E. The Events Of The Final Week Of October 2011

The Complaint recounts that rating agency downgrades on October 24, 2011 (Monday)

and disappointing quarterly earnings announced on October 25, 2011 (Tuesday) caused

“increased and significant liquidity demands,” (id. ¶ 60), which caused MFGH to draw on its

RCF (id. ¶ 61). The Complaint then sets forth the events of the following three days:

1. Wednesday, October 26, 2011

MFGI allegedly became under-segregated by the close of business on Wednesday,

October 26, 2011 and purportedly used customers’ segregated monies in the amount of $298

5 The Complaint does not plead a single fact to support the allegation that Mr. Corzine
“received information that the Firm had violated its policy” on October 18, other than a
barebones statement that Mr. Corzine received such information for the “third” day in a row on
October 19. (Cmpl. ¶ 56.)
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million. (Id. ¶ 62.) As to Mr. Corzine, however, the Complaint contains only two allegations.

The first is that Mr. Corzine and others in MFGH’s senior management requested that the

remaining $303 million of the RCF be drawn. (Id. ¶ 62(a).) The second is that Mr. Corzine

received an email with a daily segregation report that showed that MFGI had almost $300

million in “excess segregation,” i.e., money belonging to MFGI that was held in customer

segregated accounts and could lawfully be used. (Id. ¶ 62(b).) In other words, on Wednesday,

October 26, 2011 Mr. Corzine was informed that as of October 25, 2011, MFGI had almost $300

million of excess funds, not counting the additional $303 million drawn from the RCF that day.

2. Thursday, October 27, 2011

MFGI allegedly became further under-segregated by an additional $115 million by the

close of business on Thursday, October 27, 2011. (Id. ¶ 63.) It is alleged that Mr. Corzine was

sent an email at 12:39 a.m., stating that MFGI had no cash on hand, and that he was sent an

email at approximately 8:00 a.m., stating that MFGI would need $365 million. (See id. ¶¶ 63(a),

63(c).) Nevertheless, later on October 27, 2011, Mr. Corzine “received documents reflecting

that, as of the close of the prior business day (Wednesday, October 26, 2011), the Firm’s excess

funds in customer segregated accounts totaled approximately $116 million . . . .” (Id. ¶ 63(f).)

While the Complaint alleges that the information about MFGI’s balances received by Mr.

Corzine at some points during October 27, 2011 was inaccurate, apparently because of errors in

recording wire transfers and other bookkeeping errors arising out of certain transactions between

MFGI and the Bank of New York (id. ¶¶ 63(g), 63(h)–(n)), there is no allegation that Mr.

Corzine knew that the information was inaccurate.

On that same day, Mr. Corzine purportedly discussed with another employee potential

lawful strategies to “use customer segregated funds to induce JPM to clear [MFGI’s] trades more

quickly.” (Id. ¶ 63(d).) There are no allegations that Mr. Corzine’s inquiries either resulted in,
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or themselves constituted, violations of any applicable law. Mr. Corzine is alleged to have

received documents on October 27, 2011 showing that MFGI had used some of the cushion of

excess customer secured funds recommended by its internal policy. (Id. ¶ 63(f).) Again, going

below the threshold set by MFGI’s conservative internal policy did not mean that any laws or

regulations had been violated or that segregated customer funds were at risk.

The Complaint goes on to detail an October 27, 2011 conversation in which Mr. Corzine

was told by another employee that Ms. O’Brien was owed funds from a source (seemingly J.P.

Morgan) that she had not yet received, and that as a result, she did not have “‘enough to be in

compliance.’” (Id. ¶ 63(q).) Mr. Corzine allegedly “instructed the employee to ‘raise hell’ with

JPM” to obtain the necessary funds. (Id.) This conversation undermines, rather than supports,

the claims against Mr. Corzine, as it showed that Mr. Corzine expected MFGI imminently to

receive money from J.P. Morgan.

The CFTC alleges that Mr. Corzine was aware of a “worsening liquidity crisis and the

need for cash,” and that he recognized “it would be very dangerous” if MFGI did not have a

“significant excess cash position.” (Id. ¶ 63(o).) It further alleges that Mr. Corzine took part in a

meeting of the Board in which the possibility of a further ratings downgrade was discussed and

that he “understood that the ratings downgrade would trigger increased margin calls and other

demands on liquidity.” (Id. ¶ 63(e).) The fact that Mr. Corzine was aware that a downgrade

could lead to increased strains on liquidity does not constitute awareness that customer funds

were at risk. Moreover, on October 27, 2011, Mr. Corzine was allegedly informed that MFGI

had significant excess cash. (Id. ¶ 63(r).) In addition to the funds Mr. Corzine expected MFGI

to receive from J.P. Morgan, the CFTC admits that in the evening of October 27, 2011, Mr.

Corzine was expressly told by MFGI’s Treasury Department that MFGI had $82 million in cash,
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plus $602 million in other liquid assets, which Mr. Corzine believed to be the “moral equivalent”

of cash. (Id.)

3. Friday, October 28, 2011

By the close of business on Friday October 28, 2011, MFGI was allegedly under-

segregated by approximately $900 million. (See id. ¶ 64.) The Complaint does not allege that

Mr. Corzine was aware of any under-segregation, much less $900 million.

On the morning of October 28, 2011, Mr. Corzine purportedly learned of a $200 million

margin call related to certain of its positions in European sovereign debt. (See id. ¶ 64(b).) That

same morning, Mr. Corzine participated in a telephonic Board meeting during which the Board

was told that unless MFGH could “obtain additional cash, the Firm would have to file for

bankruptcy.” (Id. ¶ 64(c).) MFGH undertook efforts to raise liquidity by selling assets, and

“[Mr.] Corzine was personally involved in these efforts.” (Id. ¶ 64(d).)

To sell the assets, MFGI “needed [J.P. Morgan’s] help,” which J.P. Morgan refused to

provide until MFGI remedied certain “overdrafts,” represented to be over $134 million. (See id.

¶¶ 64(d)-(g).) Mr. Corzine allegedly “instructed [Ms.] O’Brien to transfer the funds to pay for

the overdrafts.” (Id. ¶ 64(h).)6 Ms. O’Brien caused funds to be transferred, and informed Mr.

Corzine that she had done so, although she did not tell him the source of the funds. (Id. ¶ 64(i).)

The instruction and the transfer were complete at about 9:26 a.m. on October 28, 2011. (Id.)

In the afternoon of that same day, an official at J.P. Morgan told Mr. Corzine that J.P.

Morgan wanted written assurances that the funds that Ms. O’Brien had transferred “complied

6 Paragraph 64(h) contains inaccurate statements of fact which, although subsequently
acknowledged privately by the CFTC, have not yet been publicly corrected. After stating that
Mr. Corzine “instructed” Ms. O’Brien to transfer funds, the Complaint alleges that “Corzine told
O’Brien that it was ‘the most important thing she can get done that day.’” (Cmpl. ¶ 64(h).) In
fact, Mr. Corzine was not a participant in the quoted conversation and the quotation is inaccurate
because the words “can get done that day” were not part of the conversation.
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with CFTC Regulations.” (Id. ¶ 64(k).) Mr. Corzine “contacted [Ms.] O’Brien with respect to

[J.P. Morgan’s] inquiry,” and was assured by Ms. O’Brien that the money came from a

proprietary account. (Id. ¶ 64(l).) Specifically, Ms. O’Brien “emailed [Mr.] Corzine

documentation for the $175 million transfer from [MFGI’s] proprietary account to MFGUK, but

not for the original transfer from the customer segregated account.” (Id.) When Mr. Corzine

was asked for further information on the matter by J.P. Morgan, he forwarded the request to

counsel, and had no further involvement. (Id. ¶ 64(m).) There are no allegations that Mr.

Corzine took any steps to conceal, mislead or otherwise suppress the J.P. Morgan inquiry.

Instead, he responsibly directed the matter to MFGH’s general counsel and the treasury

department, yet another appropriate “good faith” action.

Mr. Corzine also had two conversations with someone identified only as “Employee #2.”

In the first, which allegedly took place at approximately 4:30 p.m., Mr. Corzine was purportedly

told that MFGUK would not be able to return the $175 million that had been sent to it by Ms.

O’Brien earlier in the day. (Id. ¶ 64(n).) Mr. Corzine and Employee #2 discussed MFGUK’s

status, but said nothing further about cash requirements or customer accounts at MFGI. Two

hours later, at 6:30 p.m., the two allegedly spoke again and Employee #2 told Mr. Corzine that

the FCM would not be paid the $355 million that the FCM “lent us intraday.” (Id. ¶ 64(v).)

While the CFTC alleges that Mr. Corzine “did not direct anyone to determine whether [MFGI]

was under-segregated,” (id.), it does not allege that Mr. Corzine knew or had any reason to

believe that the funds had come from a customer account. Nor does it allege that Mr. Corzine

authorized any movements of funds thereafter, or even that any funds were moved at MFGI

thereafter.
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Argument

A count in a complaint must be dismissed if the allegations in the complaint, even if

proven at trial, would not constitute a violation of law. To survive a motion to dismiss, a

complaint must allege facts sufficient “to ‘state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.’”

Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quoting Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544,

570 (2007)). “Where a complaint pleads facts that are merely consistent with a defendant’s

liability, it stops short of the line between possibility and plausibility of entitlement to relief.”

Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

Here, the CFTC has alleged that Mr. Corzine violated two provisions of law, a violation

of 7 U.S.C. § 13c(b) for liability as a control person with responsibility for the misuse of

customer funds in the final week of October 2011, and a violation of 17 C.F.R. § 166.3 for

failure to supervise “[f]rom at least August 2011 through October 31, 2011.” (Cmpl. ¶¶ 81, 102.)

The factual allegations of the Complaint, however, do not state claims for relief that are

“plausible.” Moreover, even if the facts alleged were established at trial, they still would not

support liability on either count. Thus, the claims against Mr. Corzine should be dismissed.

POINT I

The Complaint Does Not Adequately Allege That Mr. Corzine Had
Bad Faith Or Knowledge—Actual or Constructive—With Respect To Any Violations

Section 13(b) of the Commodity Exchange Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13c(b), provides that:

Any person who, directly or indirectly, controls any person who has violated any
provision of this chapter . . . may be held liable for such violation . . . . [T]he
Commission has the burden of proving that the controlling person did not act in
good faith or knowingly induced, directly or indirectly, the act or acts constituting
the violation.
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The CFTC bears the burden of proof to establish liability under Section 13(b). See 7 U.S.C. § 9;

Monieson v. CFTC, 996 F.2d 852, 858 (7th Cir. 1993); see also Morris v. CFTC, 980 F.2d 1289,

1292 (9th Cir. 1992); Haltmier v. CFTC, 554 F.2d 556, 560 (2d Cir. 1977).7

To establish control person liability under Section 13(b), the CFTC must prove not only

that a violation of the CEA occurred, but also “that the defendant (1) controlled, directly or

indirectly, the person who violated the Act, and (2) did not act in good faith or knowingly

induced the violations.” CFTC v. Carnegie Trading Grp., Ltd., 450 F. Supp. 2d 788, 802 (N.D.

Ohio 2006). While Mr. Corzine contests the control aspect of the claim against him,8 this motion

to dismiss focuses on the failure of the CFTC to allege adequately violations of the CEA and the

requirement of a culpable mental state.

A. The Complaint Does Not Adequately Identify Violations Of The
CFTC Rules

A threshold requirement for a control person claim is that there was, in fact, a violation of

the CEA. 7 U.S.C. § 13c(b); see also CFTC v. Standard Forex, Inc., No. CV-93-0088, 1993 WL

809966, at *13 (E.D.N.Y. Aug. 9, 1993) (one of the elements of a control person claim which

must be pled and proved is an underlying violation of the CEA).

7 Section 13(b) “is patterned on similar provisions in the securities laws, 15 U.S.C. § 77o
and 78t(a), the primary difference being that in securities cases the defendant must prove good
faith, whereas under the CEA the Division of Enforcement has the burden of proving lack of
good faith.” Monieson, 996 F.2d at 858.

8 As part of the control element, “the CFTC must demonstrate that a defendant actually
exercised general control over the operation of the entity principally liable and possessed the
power or ability to control the specific transaction or activity upon which the primary violation
was predicated, even if such power was not exercised.” Carnegie Trading, 450 F. Supp. 2d at
802 (citations and internal quotations omitted).
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The CFTC asserts that MFGI or Ms. O’Brien violated § 6d(a)(2) by “commingling”

customer property and using it improperly. (Cmpl. ¶ 74.) It alleges that the violation took place

“[d]uring the last week of October 2011” and that Mr. Corzine is liable as a control person for

that purported wrongdoing. (Id. ¶ 81.) “Commingling” customer property with MFGI’s own

property is not a violation of the CEA, see, e.g., 17 C.F.R. § 1.23, and the CFTC does not

identify which uses of funds deposited by customers were improper, or when the misuse

occurred. This information is critical, especially where, as here, the penalty depends on the

number of violations. See 17 C.F.R. § 143.8 (setting statutory maximum for civil monetary

penalties according to number of CEA violations). Because the potential penalty depends on the

number of violations, the Complaint must identify the number of violations alleged. See Slusser

v. CFTC, 210 F.3d 783, 786 (7th Cir. 2000) (vacating fine imposed by CFTC that was calculated

using ten violations where the complaint identified only six violations).

To be sufficient, a plaintiff must “plead[] factual content that allows the court to draw the

reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.” Iqbal, 556 U.S. at

678 (citation omitted). By alleging only that “[e]ach illegal transfer of customer segregated

funds out of [MFGI’s] FCM customer segregated accounts during the last week of October 2011

. . . is alleged as a separate and distinct violation” (Cmpl. ¶ 83), but failing to separately identify

the allegedly unlawful transfers, the Complaint fails to satisfy the most basic pleading standard.

See Fed. R. Civ. P. 10(b) (“If doing so would promote clarity, each claim founded on a separate

transaction or occurrence . . . must be stated in a separate count . . . .”). Defendants should not

have to engage in guesswork to identify the specific acts that constituted violations of the CEA
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and CFTC Rules. The Complaint’s imprecision demonstrates its inadequacy. Count I must

therefore be dismissed.9

B. The Complaint Fails To Demonstrate Either That Mr. Corzine Did Not Act
In Good Faith Or That He Knowingly Induced Violations of the CEA.

1. The CFTC Fails To Allege That Mr. Corzine Lacked Good Faith

Even assuming that the allegations regarding violations of the CEA and CFTC Rules are

adequate, the CFTC has failed to allege that Mr. Corzine acted with a lack of good faith. See

Monieson, 996 F.2d at 858 (CFTC bears “the burden of proving lack of good faith”) (citations

omitted).

There is no allegation that Mr. Corzine intended the purported segregation violations, and

there are no specific factual allegations supporting the claim that Mr. Corzine “did not act in

good faith.” (Cmpl. ¶ 6.) To the contrary, the Complaint is replete with allegations about Mr.

Corzine’s conscientious efforts to monitor and increase liquidity in his effort to help MFGI and

MFGH survive. The Complaint details Mr. Corzine’s communications with key personnel

during the final week of October, including discussions with “senior management” about

drawing down the RCF (id. ¶ 62(a)), conversations about MFGI’s critical banking relationships

(id. ¶ 63(d)), and presentations to the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (id. ¶ 63(r)). Far from

suggesting an absence of good faith, these allegations demonstrate significant oversight by a

diligent and dedicated CEO. Further, the Complaint is notable for the complete absence of any

allegation that Mr. Corzine attempted to conceal, misdirect or suppress any concerns.

9 To the extent that “[t]he proper response to a vague complaint is a motion for a more
definite statement under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(e),” Haberkamp v. Steele, No. 90 Civ. 1383, 1992
WL 84544, at *8 (S.D.N.Y. Apr. 15, 1992), Mr. Corzine respectfully requests that the Court
deem this such a motion.
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Unlike previous actions of this sort, this is not a case in which an executive received

repeated warnings of employee misconduct and failed to investigate them. See, e.g., JCC, Inc. v.

CFTC, 63 F.3d 1557, 1568 (11th Cir. 1995) (finding control person violation where several

employees of an FCM testified that they spoke with the CEO regarding illegal activity, and the

CEO failed to act until eight months later); Monieson, 996 F.2d at 861 (board chairman failed to

monitor suspicious trading activity over a period of months). There are no allegations that would

support the inference that transfers of funds to satisfy obligations were done surreptitiously or

that anyone who was aware of them raised any objection or concern to Mr. Corzine that

customer funds were at risk. Rather, during the final week of October 2011, Mr. Corzine

consulted with the Treasury Department, senior management, legal counsel, and Ms. O’Brien,

and was never informed that customer segregated funds were at risk. Where those with superior

knowledge and expertise in CFTC Rules failed to inform him of any issues relating to the

security of customer segregated funds, there can be no plausible inference that Mr. Corzine failed

to act in good faith. See Donohoe v. Consol. Operating & Prod. Corp., 833 F. Supp. 719, 726

(N.D. Ill. 1993) (holding the defendants acted in good faith in relying “on a host of other

knowledgeable people for verification, advice and guidance”).

2. The Complaint Does Not Adequately Allege That Mr. Corzine
Knowingly Induced The Alleged Violations

“To support a finding that a controlling person knowingly induced conduct which

violates the Act, ‘the [CFTC] must show that the controlling person had actual or constructive

knowledge of the core activities that constitute the violation at issue and allowed them to

continue.’” JCC, 63 F.3d at 1568 (citation omitted); see also In re Murlas Commodities, Inc.,

CFTC No. 85-29, 1995 WL 523563, at *8 (C.F.T.C. Sept. 1, 1995) (no control person liability

where “there is insufficient evidence to support a determination that [the controlling persons]
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knowingly induced the violations”). A finding of constructive knowledge requires that the

CFTC show that Mr. Corzine lacked actual knowledge “only because he consciously avoided

it.’” JCC, 63 F.3d at 1569 (citation omitted). The CFTC fails to make any such allegations.

The Complaint does not allege that Mr. Corzine had actual knowledge of any segregation

violations at MFGI and it pleads no facts supporting a conclusion that Mr. Corzine avoided

knowledge of a possible segregation violation. Instead, the Complaint is replete with references

to Mr. Corzine receiving and even seeking out information regarding MFGI’s liquidity, including

but not limited to: (i) his receipt of daily written and verbal updates regarding MFGI’s liquidity

position (Cmpl. ¶¶ 40, 62(b), 63(a), 63(f), 63(r)); (ii) his investigation and receipt of various

reports and memoranda regarding MFGI’s potential sources of liquidity (id. ¶¶ 44, 51-52, 63(d));

and (iii) his receipt of documents showing that MFGI’s excess customer funds fell below the

threshold specified by its internal policy (id. ¶¶ 53, 56). Indeed, the one time the Complaint

alleges Mr. Corzine was told MFGI might not be “in compliance” (the evening of Thursday,

October 27, 2011), Mr. Corzine instructed an employee to “raise hell” to fix the problem (id. ¶

63(q)), and there is no allegation that he was told anything more about any compliance issues.

Rather, as set forth at length supra, see pages 5-7, all of the information actually provided to Mr.

Corzine indicated that MFGI was not under-segregated, that customer funds were not at risk and

that MFGI had $684 million surplus as of the close of business on Thursday. (See Cmpl.

¶¶ 62(a), 62(b), 63(f), 63(q), 63(r), 64(l).)

Any implication that Mr. Corzine should have known of a deficiency in customer funds,

and somehow avoided that knowledge by failing to investigate allegedly suspicious

circumstances with sufficient vigor, is contradicted by the Complaint itself. (E.g., id. ¶¶ 57,

63(q), 64(h), 64(l), 64(q), 64 (v), 71.) In any event, such allegations fail to establish a violation
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of Section 13(b). A CEO is not required to investigate all issues that arise before him personally,

but is allowed to rely on subordinates. Monieson, 996 F.2d at 861; Donohoe, 833 F. Supp. at

726.10 “In the context of the CEA . . . Congress specifically shifted the burden of proving lack of

good faith or knowing inducement to the Commission . . . [T]he fact that under section 13(b) the

Commission bears the burden of showing lack of good faith or knowing inducement leads to the

conclusion that a complaint must plead the requisite degree of culpable participation.” Standard

Forex, 1993 WL 809966, at *14 (emphasis added). The Complaint’s “should have known”

allegations do not meet the culpable participation standard.

* * *

The Complaint does not adequately allege that Mr. Corzine acted without good faith or

that he acted with actual or constructive knowledge of the alleged (but unspecified) violations.

To the contrary, the allegations evidence Mr. Corzine’s dedication to MFGI, his diligence and

his good faith reliance on those with a superior knowledge of liquidity regulations and access to

information during a tumultuous time for his firm. Thus, this motion must be granted as to

Count One against Mr. Corzine.

POINT II

The Complaint Does Not Adequately Allege That Mr. Corzine Had
Supervisory Authority Over Any Violator Of The CEA Or CFTC

Rules Or That He Actually Failed In His Supervisory Duties

Count Four charges Mr. Corzine and the MFGI entity with a “failure to supervise

diligently” in violation of CFTC Rule 166.3. That rule provides:

10 Throughout the Complaint, the CFTC insinuates that Mr. Corzine needed to follow-up
once he delegated an issue, regardless of whether he received further information indicating that
there was still a problem. (See, e.g., Cmpl. ¶¶ 57, 63(q), 64(h), 64(l), 64(q), 64 (v), 71.) Such
contentions are wholly without merit. The idea that Mr. Corzine, as CEO, had a duty to run
every issue and problem to ground is hindsight bias at its worst. Further, the notion that Mr.
Corzine could have followed-up on all issues during his tenure ignores the proximity of the
alleged misconduct and the bankruptcy proceedings.
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Each Commission registrant, except an associated person who has no supervisory
duties, must diligently supervise the handling by its partners, officers, employees
and agents (or persons occupying a similar status or performing a similar
function) of all commodity interest accounts carried, operated, advised or
introduced by the registrant and all other activities of its partners, officers,
employees and agents (or persons occupying a similar status or performing a
similar function) relating to its business as a Commission registrant.

17 C.F.R. § 166.3 (2012). “Generally, courts have determined that Rule 166.3 requires active

supervision of accounts and personnel and imposes a duty on Commission registrants to develop

procedures for the detection and deterrence of possible wrongdoing by the registrant’s agents.”

Carnegie Trading, 450 F. Supp. 2d at 805 (citation omitted). “Of course,” the CFTC has the

burden to prove the failure to supervise diligently. In re Paragon Futures Ass’n, CFTC No. 88-

18, 1992 WL 74261, at *14 (C.F.T.C. Apr. 1, 1992) (citation omitted).

A. Mr. Corzine Had No Specific Supervisory Role Over Transactions
That Allegedly Violated CFTC Regulations.

The Complaint is vague in the extreme as to the identity of the person or persons that Mr.

Corzine supposedly failed to supervise. As CEO of a global financial services firm, with “almost

fifty separate direct or indirect subsidiaries” (Cmpl. ¶ 2), Mr. Corzine could not possibly have

been required to supervise every aspect of the business, or every employee of the firm. Instead,

he reasonably and appropriately delegated supervisory responsibility to others. With respect to

Ms. O’Brien, an Assistant Treasurer at MFGI, the Complaint specifically alleges that she was

supervised by MFGH’s Global Treasurer. (Id. ¶ 48.) The Global Treasurer, in turn, reported to

MFGH’s CFO, who reported to Mr. Corzine. (See id. ¶¶ 16, 50-51.)

The Complaint contains conclusory allegations that Mr. Corzine “had the power and

ability to control the cash transfers involving [MFGI]’s accounts and controlled the employees
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responsible for making wire transfers involving its accounts” (id. ¶ 17(a)),11 but there are no

allegations describing Mr. Corzine’s own supervisory responsibilities as distinguished from

those supervisory responsibilities that were delegated to others. Cf. Murlas, 1995 WL 523563, at

*9 (“the record fails to establish either the specific supervisory role each of the individual

respondents undertook or what duties he failed to diligently perform.”); Paragon, 1992 WL

74261, at *14 (“[t]he Division presented no evidence concerning Refco’s system of line

supervision or its compliance activities.”); Bunch v. First Commodity Corp., CFTC No. 86-R201,

1992 WL 190394, at *3 (C.F.T.C. Aug. 5, 1992) (“[C]omplainant offered virtually no evidence

about the nature of FCCB’s system of supervision.”). In particular, there are no allegations in

the Complaint that even suggest, let alone directly allege, that Mr. Corzine had any specific

supervisory responsibility over transfers of funds in and out of customer segregated accounts.

B. Mr. Corzine Did Not Fail To Supervise Diligently.

Even if it is assumed that Mr. Corzine did have some relevant supervisory authority, the

Complaint still fails to allege that he breached his duty to supervise diligently. In the absence of

any evidence that Mr. Corzine had specific supervisory responsibility for transactions involving

customer segregated accounts, the Complaint alleges that Mr. Corzine “was aware”: (1) that

MFGI was transferring funds from customer segregated accounts in the absence of “real time”

determinations of excess funds (Cmpl. ¶ 69); (2) that MFGI had “inadequate controls and

systems with regard to liquidity management and regulatory reporting” (id. ¶ 70(a)); (3) that

MFGH was experiencing a “liquidity crisis” (id. ¶ 70(b)); (4) that J.P. Morgan “sought written

11 It further alleges that Mr. Corzine “made management and hiring decisions,” “influenced
how proprietary funds were invested,” “issued instructions on day-to-day matters and
operations,” “made and influenced corporate policy,” “acted as a regulatory liaison for [MFGI],”
and “supervised the activities of [MFGI’s] officers, employees, and agents.” (Id. ¶¶ 17(b)-(g).)
None of these alleged powers relate to the specific allegations of the Complaint.
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assurances” regarding the October 28 transfer (id. ¶ 70(c)); and (5) that the company had used

more customer secured funds than it intended to under its conservative internal policy (id.

¶ 70(d)). The allegations, taken either individually or collectively, do not state a plausible claim

for failure to supervise by Mr. Corzine.

1. The Absence Of “Real Time” Calculations Of Excess Segregated
Funds Does Not Reflect A Failure Of Supervision

The Complaint alleges, as evidence of Mr. Corzine’s failure to supervise, that he knew

that employees were “transferring funds from MF Global’s customer segregated accounts

without having sufficient capability to determine, in real time, the portion of the account balance

that represented excess segregated funds that the Firm was permitted to use for its own purposes,

as distinct from customer segregated funds, which the Firm was not permitted to use.” (Id. ¶ 69

(emphasis added).) In fact, no such “real time” calculation was required, or even feasible, given

the nature of an FCM’s business.

As described in the Complaint itself, “[a]n FCM’s commodity futures customers

generally hold futures positions that may fluctuate in value on a daily or intra-day basis.” (Id.

¶ 27.) This is because, among other things, customers may be required to post margin upon the

deterioration of a position or, conversely, they may be entitled to additional funds if a position

increases in value. (Id.) As a consequence, “an FCM’s combined obligation to all customers

fluctuates throughout each business day.” (Id.) In apparent recognition of this fact, the CFTC

Rules require an FCM to calculate the funds that are required to be in segregation only as of the

end of each business day. (Id. ¶ 26); see also 17 C.F.R. § 1.32 (regarding daily segregation

calculation). An FCM, moreover, may not learn of a segregation violation until it completes its

daily segregation computations, which are not required to be completed until noon the following

business day. (Cmpl. ¶ 26); see also 17 C.F.R. § 1.32.
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Thus, allowing transfers from customer segregated accounts, notwithstanding MFGI’s

inability to determine “in real time” the precise amount of its own interest in customer

segregated accounts, cannot be described as a failure to supervise diligently. Indeed, more than a

year after MFGH’s bankruptcy, the CFTC proposed new customer protection rules that would,

for the first time, “prohibit an FCM from withdrawing any of its residual interest or excess funds

from futures customer accounts” until the FCM had completed the previous day’s segregation

calculation and formulated a reasonable “estimate” of the excess funds remaining on deposit

since the close of business on the previous day.12 By proposing a rule that requires an FCM to

“estimate” the amount of funds remaining on deposit before initiating a withdrawal of excess

funds from customer segregated accounts, the CFTC has itself acknowledged that a “real time”

determination would be practically impossible. Mr. Corzine cannot be faulted for failing to halt

transfers from segregated accounts in the absence of a “real time” monitoring system, where the

absence of such a system is common to firms across the industry.13

2. MF Global Had Systems And Controls In Place To Detect
And Prevent Segregation Violations

Rule 166.3 does not “impose a general duty to police the trading in every account carried

by a brokerage firm.” Carnegie Trading, 450 F. Supp. 2d at 805. Rather, “[t]o determine

12 Enhancing Protections Afforded Customers and Customer Funds Held by Futures
Commission Merchants and Derivative Clearing Organizations, 77 Fed. Reg. 67,866, 67,887
(Nov. 14, 2012) (amending Rule 1.23).

13 In response to the Commission’s request for comments, industry representatives
confirmed that “most” FCMs lack the ability to calculate the precise amount of excess funds in
“real time.” See Comment Letter from Walt Lukken, Futures Indus. Ass’n, Feb. 15, 2013, at 28
(“Although FCMs monitor position risk on a continual basis, most FCMs’ systems do not permit
real-time calculation of an account’s equity until the nightly batch processing is complete and
prices are updated.”), available at
http://comments.cftc.gov/PublicComments/ViewComment.aspx?id=59201&SearchText=lukken
(last visited Sept. 6, 2013).
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whether a registrant has failed to supervise diligently, [a] Court must first determine whether

there existed a program of supervision designed to detect violations and, if so, whether the

relevant policies and procedures were followed in practice.” CFTC v. Matrix Trading Grp., Inc.,

No. 00-8880-Civ., 2002 WL 31936799, at *10 (S.D. Fla. Oct. 3, 2002).

The Complaint does not, and cannot, allege that MFGI lacked a program of supervision

designed to detect and deter segregation violations. The conclusory claim is, instead, that the

systems and controls were somehow “inadequate.” (Cmpl. ¶ 70(a).) But this claim consists of

nothing more than “legal conclusions . . . couched as factual allegations” and should not be

accorded any presumption of truthfulness. In re Amaranth Natural Gas Commodities Litig., 587

F. Supp. 2d 513, 528 (S.D.N.Y. 2008) (internal quotations marks and alterations omitted).

Despite the allegations of gaps in systems and controls, there is not a single allegation of

a segregation violation prior to October 26, 2011. In fact, the Complaint actually alleges that the

segregation violations in the final week of October 2011 were deliberately concealed by Ms.

O’Brien. (See Cmpl. ¶¶ 63(k), 64(s).) No set of procedures and supervision can guarantee that

violations will never occur, and “isolated” violations that were never brought to Mr. Corzine’s

attention do not automatically establish a failure of supervision. See Paragon, 1992 WL 74261,

at *14 (“Violations of a type that are inherently difficult to detect, or isolated violations, may not

given rise to any inference of supervisory failure.”).

3. Mr. Corzine Responded Appropriately To J.P. Morgan’s Inquiries

The CFTC asserts that Mr. Corzine’s awareness of inquiries by J.P. Morgan about a

transfer of funds on October 28, 2011, demonstrates his failure to supervise diligently. To begin

with, the Complaint misleadingly alleges that Mr. Corzine “knew on Friday morning that

[MFGI] had transferred $175 million to MFGUK even though he thought that MF Global had

immediate access to only $82 million in proprietary cash.” (Cmpl. ¶ 70.) As acknowledged
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elsewhere in the Complaint, however, Mr. Corzine knew that MF Global had an additional $602

million in assets that it was in the process of monetizing and was also owed money from prior

sales of assets. (Id. ¶¶ 63(r), 64(d).) With respect to the $175 million transfer, Ms. O’Brien sent

Mr. Corzine documentation showing that the funds had originated in “MF Global’s proprietary

account.” (Id. ¶ 64(l).) There are no allegations that Mr. Corzine was told that the funds had

been transferred from a customer account until many hours after the transfer had been

accomplished (Id. ¶ 70), and even then Mr. Corzine was never told that the funds had been

transferred unlawfully. In any event, the Complaint demonstrates that, far from ignoring J.P.

Morgan’s inquiries, Mr. Corzine personally contacted Ms. O’Brien to address J.P. Morgan’s

concerns and forwarded the letter from J.P. Morgan to MFGH’s general counsel. (Id. ¶¶ 64(l),

64(m).) The Complaint thus establishes that Mr. Corzine responded promptly to J.P. Morgan’s

inquiries, that he received assurance from Ms. O’Brien that the transferred funds were not from a

customer account, and that he was never aware that segregated customer funds were at risk.

4. Mr. Corzine Properly Monitored The Liquidity Situation

It is undisputed that, in the final days of its existence, MFGI faced a liquidity crunch.

The CFTC’s allegations establish that, during the relevant period, Mr. Corzine discussed the

liquidity situation with others inside the firm (id. ¶¶ 63(d), 63(o), 63(q), 63(r)), met with the

Board of Directors (id. ¶¶ 63(e), 64(c)), assisted with the sales of assets (id. ¶64(d)), and received

multiple reports regarding the firm’s liquidity position (id. ¶¶ 56, 62(b), 63(c)). Those reports

demonstrated that MFGI had excess funds in customer segregated accounts. (E.g., id. ¶¶ 63(f)

(“Corzine and O’Brien received documents reflecting that, as of the close of the prior business

day (Wednesday, October 26), the Firm’s excess funds in customer segregated accounts totaled

approximately $116 million . . . .”); 63(r) (discussing Corzine’s knowledge on the evening of

October 27 that “the Firm had $82 million in cash that could be used immediately,” as well as
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$602 million in cash and securities at the Depository Trust Company, J.P. Morgan, and BONY

that were considered the “moral equivalent” of cash)). Once again, the Complaint itself defeats

the claim of failure to supervise.

5. Isolated Breaches Of MFGI’s Internal Policy Do Not
Demonstrate A Failure To Supervise

As discussed above, MFGI’s internal policy regarding the use of customer secured funds

was designed to exceed the requirements of the CEA and CFTC regulations. See, pages 5-6

supra. That MFGI had a more conservative internal policy than required by the CEA and CFTC

Rules and reported breaches of that policy to senior management demonstrates that the company

had systems and procedures in place that were designed to protect customers and that Mr.

Corzine, as CEO, did not fail to supervise diligently.

* * *

While MFGI’s temporary misallocation of customer funds was deeply regrettable, it was

not caused by a failure to supervise diligently on the part of Mr. Corzine, nor has the CFTC

properly alleged otherwise. Hence, Count Four against Mr. Corzine must be dismissed.

Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, both causes of action against Mr. Corzine should be dismissed.
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